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6 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

7 DISTRICT OF NEVADA

8 SHERYL MOULTON, iqdividjally and on ) 3:08-cv-O017&BES-VPC
behalf of aIl others simllarly sltuated, )

9 )
Plaintiffs, ) ORDER

1 0 )
v. )

11 )
EUGENE BURGER MANAGEMENT )

12 CORPORATIO ,N a California Corporation', )
EUGENE J, BURGER', KEVIN BERG', )

13 KAREN BRIGG; PHIL FRINK & )
ASSOCIATE ,S INC.; PHILLIP EUFRIN ,K' )

14 GAYLE A. KER ,N LTD', GAYLE Au KERN', )
ULLA CHRISTENSEN, both ps individual )

15 and Lakeside Plaz: Boyrd Dlrecto ,r' DANIEL )
JOSEPH, b0th as Indivldual and Lakeside )

16 Plaza B?ard Directo ,r' FM NK A. PERAU, )
bgth as Individual and Lakeside Plai! Board )

17 Dlrector; RICH SVIHLA, both as indlvldual )
and Lakeside Plaza Board Directowr' )

18 LAKESIDE PLAZA CONDOMINIUM )
ASSOCIATION', and DOES 1-500, )

19 )
Defendants. )

20 )

21 Currently before the Court is Defendant Kevin Berg's (i'Berg'') Motion to Dismiss

22 Plaintiff's Complaint (#114) filed on January 28, 2009. Plaintiff Sheryl Moulton t'iplaintiT'l did

23 not file a response. On April 10, 2009, the Coud entered an Order (#117) giving Plaintiff until

24 Monday, April 20, 2009, to file a response to Berg's motion. In its Order, the Court noted that

25 Plaintiff's failure to comply may result in dismissal of the action with prejudice. Plaintif'f did not

26 file a response by the designated date and no response has been filed to date.

27 BACKGROUND

28 This case involves several ciaims brought by Piaintiff based on an alleged ''iliegal''

assessment imposed at the Lakeside Piaza Condominium Complex. (Complaint (#1) case
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1 5:07-cv-5861 at 5). As a result of the alleged illegal assessment, Plaintif filed suit in

2 federal coud against various defendants including Berg.l According to Plaintiff she brought

3 the case ''to com pel Defendants to comply with the CC&Rs, and submit the Special

4 Assessment to a homeowner vote.'' Ld-..

5 ANALYSIS

6 Berg filed a Motion to Dismiss (#1 14) on Januaw 28, 2009. As noted, Moulton did not

7 file any response.

8 Local Rule 7-2 provides that the l'failure of an opposing party to file points and

9 authorities in response to any motion shall constitute a consent to the granting of the motion.''

10 LR 7-2. The ''ltqailure to follow a district coud's local rules is a proper grounds for dismissal.''

1 1 Ghazali v. Moran, 46 F.3d 52, 53 (9th Cir. 1995). Before dismissing a case forfailing to follow

12 Iocal rules, the district court must weigh five factors: 61(1) the public's interest in expeditious

13 resolution of litigation', (2) the court's need to manage its docket', (3) the risk of prejudice to the

14 defendants', (4) the public policy favoring disposition of cases on their merits, and (5) the

15 availability of less drastic sanctions.'' Henderson v. Duncan, 779 F.2d 1421, 1423 (9th Cir.

16 1986). In this matter, the balance of factors weigh in favor of dismissal because Berg has filed

17 a meritorious motion to dism iss on the claims asserled against him.

1 8 The purpose of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) is to test the Iegal suficiency

19 of the complaint. Navarro v. Block, 250 F.3d 729, 732 (9th Cir. 2001). Dismissal under Rule

20 12(b)(6) is proper only when a complaint exhibits either a ulack of a cognizable Iegal theory or

21 the absence of sufficient facts alleged under a cognizable Iegal theory.'' Balistreri v. Pacifica

22 Police Deo't, 9O1 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990). The Court must accept as true aII material

23 allegations in the complaint as well as all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from such

24 allegations. LSO. Ltd. v. Stroh, 205 F.3d 1 146, 1 15O (9th Cir. 2000). The Coud must also

25 construe the allegations of the complaint in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.

26 Shwarz v. United States, 234 F.3d 428, 435 (9th Cir. 2000). The Court may only grant a

27 motion to dismiss under Ruie 12(b)(6) if it is cedain that the plaintiff will not be entitled to relief

28 l . . 
.

According to Plaintiff's C'onplaint (#1 ). Berg was a propem  manageT for Eugene Burger
M anagement Corporation al the Lalkeslde Plaza Condominium Association.

2



1 under any set of facts that could be proven under the allegations of the complaint. Cahill v.

2 Libertv Mut. lns. Co. , 80 F.3d 336, 338 (9th Cir. 1996).

3 Although a court's review on a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss is generally ''Iimited to the

4 contents of the com plaint,'' the coud may also consider documents attached to the complaint,

5 documents incorporated by reference in the complaint, or matters of judicial notice without

6 converting the motion into a motion forsummaryjudgment. See Durninn v. First Boston Corn.,

7 815 F.2d 1265, 1267 (9th Cir. 1987).

8 Berg filed a motion to dismiss on the basis that Plaintifrs Complaint failed to state a

9 claim upon which relief can be granted. Specifically, Berg alleges that Plaintif'f failed to

10 properly plead her federal causes of action, and that she failed to exhaust administrative

l 1 remedies as to her state Iaw claims.z

12 A. Racketeering Influenced and Corrupt Organization Act

13 Berg seeks dism issal of Plaintiff's Racketeer lnfluenced and Corrupt O rganizations Act

14 (''RICO'') claims on the basis that Plaintiff has failed to properly plead a claim under that

15 statute. Specifically, Berg states that Plaintiff cannot allege a RICO claim because she 'lhas

16 brought the instant civil Iitigation based on civil causes of actiorh, and then has included the

17 criminal racketeering claim as part of this civil matter.'' (Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint

l 8 (#1 14) at 10). According to Berg, i'Title 18 of the United States Code involves crimes and

19 criminal procedure, not civil causes of action.'' Ld=. In the alternative, Berg states that Plaintiff's

20 RICO claim should be dismissed because she failed to plead with specificity each and every

21 element of her RICO claim as required by Rule 9(b). Ld-..

22 18 U.S.C. j 1964(c) provides for civil RICO claims. According to that provision, d'laqny

23 person injured in his business or property by reason of violation of section 1962 of this chapter

24 may sue therefor in any appropriate United States district coud and shall recover threefold the

25 damages he sustains and the cost of the suit.'' As a result, Berg's argument that Plaintif'f

26 2 his case because the amount inBerg also argued that this Court lacked jurisdiction over t
controversl' was less than $75-000. (Motion to Dismiss (#1 14) at 5. However. the amount in27 

- , 
-

controversl' requiremenl onll' agplies to cases brouyht in tederal court based on diversit) ot citizenship.
See 28 U.S.C. j 1 332. Plaintift. on the other hand. lnvoked ikderal question jurisdiction gursuant to 2828 

. .. 
. -

L .S.C. j 133 l . 28 U.S.C. j 1331 proA'ides that ytjhe districl courts shal! have original Jurisdiction ol
il tions arising under the Constitution- lanrs. or treaties od-the United States.-- 'all ciR' ac
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1 cannot bring a civil RICO claim is without merit.3 Plaintif is entitled to bring a civil RICO claim

2 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. j 1964(c) for violations of any prohibited activities Iisted in 18 U.S.C. j

3 1962. However, although Plaintiff may bring a civil RICO claim, she must properly plead such

4 a cause of action in her com plaint.

5 The Ninth Circuit has recognized that the heightened pleading standards applicable to

6 fraud claims under Rule 9(b) apply to a RICO action alleging predicate acts of fraud.

7 Lancastercmtv. Hoso. v. Antelooevallev Hosn. Dist., 94O F.2d 397, 405 (9th Cir. 1991). Rule

8 9(b) requires that the circumstances constituting fraud be stated with padicularity. Schreiber

9 Distrib. Co. v. Serv-Well Furniture Co.. lnc., 8O6 F.2d 1393, 1399 (9th Cir. 1986)(internaI

10 quotations omitted). ddRuie 9(b) drequires the identification of the circumstances constituting

11 fraud so that the defendant can prepare an adequate answer from the allegations.''' Ld=.

12 (quoting Bosse v. Crowell Collier & MacMillian, 565 F.2d 602, 611 (9th Cir. 1977)). According

13 to the Ninth Circuit, pursuant to Rule 9(b) ''the pleader must state the time, place, and specific

14 content of the false representations as well as the identities of the parties to the

15 misrepresentation.'' Ld=.

16 Plaintifrs Complaint Iists three claims for relief based on RICO. (Complaint (#1) case

17 5:07-cv-5861 at 20-21). Although the allegations of her RICO claims state that Berg was a

18 ''person'' within the meaning of RICO, Plaintiff does not assed any specific RICO allegations

19 against Berg. Rather, Plaintiff asseds that llDefendants used United States Postal Service

20 mail (mail fraud) and e-mail (wire fraud) to attempt to extod Special Assessment monies from

21 Plainti# and other homeowners.'' Ld=. ln addition, Plaintiff states that ''Defendants used the

22 interstate wires to obtain plaintiff's propedy by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,

23 representations or promiselsl.'' Ld=

24 In this case, the Court finds that Plaintiff has failed to satisfy Rule 9(b)'s padicularity

25 requirement in relation to her RICO claims. Plaintiff states that the defendants used ''fajse or

26 fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises'' to obtain her propedy. However, Plaintiff

27 does not identify the alleged fraudulent representations with any specificity. In particular, she

28 3Thi
s argument was addressed and determined by the Court in Order (#1 1 1) filed on Januar)

26. 2009.
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l does not identify the time, place, or specific content of the alleged false representation or the

2 padies to the false representation. As a result, the fraud allegations of Plaintiff's RICO claim s

3 are not pled with padicularity as required by Rule 9(b). Because these claims have not been

4 padicularly plead, dismissal is appropriate on this claim in Iight of Plaintiff's failure to respond

5 to Berg's motion to dismiss.

6 B. Fair Debt Collection Practices Act

7 The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act CFDCPA'') is a federal statute providing

8 consumer protection against abuses by third party debt collectors or other specified entities.

9 15 U.S.C. j 1692 et seq. The FDCPA imposes civil liability on any person or entity that

10 violates its provisions. 15 U.S.C. j 1692*, It establishes general standards of debt collector

1 1 conduct, defines abuse, and provides for specific consumer rights. 15 U.S.C. 1692.

12 Here, Plaintiff asseds that her cause of action for violation of the FDCPA is against alI

13 defendants, Howeveq Plaintif'f does not identify Berg in any allegations of this claim . Rather,

14 Plaintiffidentifies onlyfourof the named defendants in this allegation. Moreover, Plaintifdoes

15 not allege that Berg is a ''third party debt collector'' as required by the statute. As a result,

16 Plaintiff has failed to state a claim for relief underthe FDCPA against Berg because the claim

17 Iacks suficient facts to establish a cognizable Iegal theory. Because Plaintiff has failed to

18 state a claim against Berg, the claim should be dismissed.

19 C. Exhaustion of State Rem edies

20 Berg's Motion to Dismiss (#1 14) also includes a motion to dismiss the state Iaw claims

21 asseded in Plaintiff's Complaint for failing to exhaust administrative remedies.

22 NRS 38.310 provides that no civil action based upon a claim relating to the

23 ''interpretation, application or enforcement of any covenants, conditions or restrictions

24 applicable to residential property,'' or ''Itlhe procedures used for increasing, decreasing or

25 imposing additional assessments upon residential property, may be commenced in any court

26 in this state unless the action has been submitted to mediation or arbitration.'' NRS 38.310(1).

17 That statute fudher provides that iilaj court shall dismiss any civil action which is commenced

28 in vioiation of the provision'' requiring mediation or arbitration. NRS 38.310(2). ln interpreting

NRS 38.310, the Nevada Supreme Court has held that ''lulnder that statute, the district court

5
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1 must dism iss any dispute arising from the interpretation, application, or enforcement of

2 homeowners' associations' covenants, conditions, and restrictions (CC&Rs) if the parties did

3 not first submit the dispute to mediation or arbitration.'' Hamm v. Arrowcreek Homeowners'

4 Ass'n, 183 P.3d 895, 898, 124 Nev. 28 (Nev. 2008). In Hamm, the Nevada Supreme Coud

5 strictly applied the reguirements of NRS 38.310 and stated that ''NRS 38.310 expresses

6 Nevada's public policy favoring arbitration of disputes involving the interpretation and

7 enforcement of CC&Rs.'' Ld-.. at 902.

8 A plaintil is generally required to exhaust aII adm inistrative remedies before a coud will

9 assume jurisdiction. W . Radio Serv. Co., Inc. v. Esov, 79 F.3d 896, 899 (9th Cir. 1996)',see

10 also Nishimotov. Federman-Bachrach &Assoc., 903F.2d 709, 716 (9th Cir. lggoltstating that

1 l the failure to exhaust state adm inistrative rem edies llmeans that no coud would have had

12 jurisdiction'' to decide the claim). W ith regard to rights arising under state Iaw, federal courts

13 look to the intent of the Iegislature as evidenced by the text and structure of a particular state

14 statute in deciding whether exhaustion of administrative remedies is a jurisdictional

15 prerequisite. Jones v. Grinnell Coro., 235 F.3d 972, 974 (5th Cir. zoolltholding thatthe district

16 court did not have subject matter jurisdiction over a state Iaw claim because the Iitigant had

17 not exhausted aI1 state administrative remedies).

18 In this matter, the Coud must dism iss Plaintifrs state law claims because they arise

19 from the ddinterpretation, application, orenforcement of homeowners' associations' covenants,

20 conditions and restrictions.'' See Hamm , 124 Nev. at 28, 183 P.3d at 898. Nevada Iaw is clear

21 that in order to bring an action based on the CC&RS of a homeowners' association, the

22 aggrieved person must exhaust the adm inistrative remedies provided by law - in this case,

23 subm ission to mediation or arbitration under NRS 38.310. Thus, Plaintiff's state Iaw claims

24 are dismissed pursuant to the mandate of NRS 38.310(2).

25 Based on the foregoing, the five factors the district court must weigh before dism issing

26 a case for failing to follow the Iocal rules weigh in favor of dismissal. Because Berg has filed

27 a meritorious motion to dismiss, dismissal in this instance favors the public's interest in the

28 expeditious resolution of litigation, avoids a risk of prejudice to the defendants, and promotes

the public policy favoring disposition of cases on their merits. ln addition, because the m otion
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1 to dismiss has merit, there is no Iess drastic sanction available because Plaintiffailed to state

2 a claim upon which relief can be granted against Berg.

.7 CONCLUSION

4 For the foregoing reasons, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendant Kevin Berg's

5 Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's complaint (#114) is GRANTED.1 
day of July, 2oo9.6 Dated this
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UM e States District Judge
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